®

712 37th Street South
Birmingham, AL 35222
Tel: (205) 458-0095
Fax: (205) 458-0094
edillard@blackwarriorriver.org
www.BlackWarriorRiver.org

October 27, 2021
Bruce C. Webster, Registered Agent
Drummond Company
1000 Urban Center Drive, Suite 300
Birmingham, AL 35242
bwebster@drummondco.com
Re:

Notice of Intent to File Citizen Suit Under Clean Water Act for Unpermitted Discharges at
Drummond Company, Inc. Property along Cook Ford Road (Jefferson County, Alabama)

To Whom It May Concern:
Black Warrior Riverkeeper, Inc. (Riverkeeper) intends to file a lawsuit against Drummond Co.,
Inc. (Drummond) under § 505 of the Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 U.S.C. §1365, for violations of the
CWA at its property located on the east side of Cook Ford Road, approximately .2 miles north of Old
Cook Ford Road in Quinton, Alabama (Lat./Long. provided by ADEM: 33.572088, -87.179917) (the
Property) as more fully set out below. Unless the violations described herein are fully redressed, a CWA
suit will be filed 60 days from your receipt of this letter.
Drummond is in violation of § 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), because it is currently
discharging pollutants (mine pool drainage and/or groundwater) from a point source (a well, pump, pipe,
and rip-rap channel) at the Property into an unnamed tributary of the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior
River without a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit. Section 1311(a)
of the CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants by any person into waters of the United States except
in compliance with the terms of an NPDES permit issued by the EPA or an authorized State pursuant to
§ 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.
I.

PERSONS GIVING NOTICE

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 135.3(a), notice is hereby provided that the name, address and telephone
number of the persons giving notice of intent to sue is as follows: Black Warrior Riverkeeper, Inc., 712
37th Street South, Birmingham, AL 35222, Tel: (205) 458-0095. Riverkeeper is an entity organized
under the law of the State of Alabama that seeks to protect, restore and preserve the Black Warrior River
and its tributaries through education, advocacy, and pollution prevention. It is a member organization
with approximately 6,000 members, many of whom live, work and/or recreate in the area of the

violations discussed herein, and who are harmed by those violations. Furthermore, these injuries or risks
are traceable to Drummond’s violations alleged in this notice letter, and redressing those ongoing
violations will redress the members’ injuries or risks.
II.

BACKGROUND

On July 19, 2021, Complaint #5S-004CY6H44 was filed with the Alabama Department of
Environmental Management (ADEM) about a large area of clearing at the Property. A July 28, 2021
ADEM inspection report states that “[underground mine water from the inactive Maxine Mine was
being pumped to control water inflow to the mine and to possibly create a groundwater well.”1 The
inspection noted that water was being discharged to an unknown tributary of Prescott Creek. 2 On an
FOD NPDES [Construction Stormwater] Checklist Form, the inspector answered “no” to whether “the
observed outfalls, discharge points, and/or receiving waters appear to be properly permitted.”3
On August 10, 2021, Complaint #4CS-000L4Q6Q20 was filed with ADEM about mine drainage
from the Property entering a wetland that runs into the Black Warrior River. ADEM required
Drummond to cap groundwater wells on the Property August 13, 2021 and end the discharges that were
the focus of the complaint. That form notes the previous and related July 19 complaint about the
Property.
Upon information and belief, there was a conference call on August 16, 2021 between
representatives of Drummond and ADEM about activities at the Property. On August 19, 2021
Drummond provided “information” for ADEM’s review in a follow up letter.4 Part of that information
concerned Drummond’s expressed intention to pump water from the underground mine area (above the
mine’s roof) but stated Drummond had not begun to pump. Drummond estimated that the proposed
pumping activity could take as long as six months. That letter did not include data about the quality of
the water leaving the mine, but rather contained testing information from a sampling point at
Drummond’s property line. On August 30, 2021, ADEM requested that Drummond provide test results
of the water as it was pumped. Those results are presented in the table below.
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July 28, 2021 ADEM Inspection Report at 1.
In fact, the water is being discharged to an unknown tributary of the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River. See Figure 1,
infra.
3
July 28, 2021 ADEM Inspection Report at 5.
4
August 19, 2021 Letter from K. Madison, Director, Permitting/Environmental Compliance, Drummond Co. to Catherine
McNeill, Chief, ADEM Mining and Natural Resources Section.
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The high iron concentrations, together with elevated levels of specific conductance (conductivity),
sulfates and total dissolved solids are characteristic of mine wastewater and mine drainage. As a
scientific benchmark for iron, EPA’s New Source Performance Standards for “acid or ferruginous mine
drainage from an active mining area” at 40 C.F.R. § 434.35 limit the daily maximum discharge for iron
to 6.0 mg/L and set a monthly average of not more than 3.0 mg/L. All of Drummond’s test results for
iron in the pumped wastewater are above the daily maximum. Similarly, EPA has recommended a
conductivity benchmark of 300 - 500 μS/cm. for the Central Appalachian region based upon peerreviewed scientific studies. See Improving EPA Review of Appalachian Surface Coal Mining Operations
Under the Clean Water Act, National Environmental Policy Act, and the Environmental Justice
Executive Order (July 21, 2011) at 18.5 The conductivity levels in Drummond’s pumped wastewater
range from two and one half to over three times the scientifically recommended benchmark for
conductivity.
On September 1, 2021, ADEM notified Drummond that “a permit for the activities is not
warranted at this time.” Upon information and belief, shortly thereafter Drummond began pumping the
polluted water from Maxine Mine and discharging it through a beaver pond into an unnamed tributary of
the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River.
Below are satellite images of the Property (from Google Earth) before Drummond started
pumping polluted water from Maxine Mine and the Property. The first photograph is from August 2019,
which is two years ago, but approximately the same time of year that Drummond began to pump the
polluted water in 2021.
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Alabama is in central Appalachia and Eco-region 68 (as is Kentucky, which is one of the two states where the scientific
studies underlying the Final Guidance were conducted).
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Figure 1

The beaver pond is the waterbody in the upper left center of the photograph, located in the area to the right of Cook Ford
Road and Old Cook Ford Road. The unnamed tributary to the Locust Fork is the line that extends down from the beaver pond
to Fred Vines Slough which adjoins the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River. Riverkeeper members live in some of the
homes on the slough. Prescott Creek, wrongly identified by ADEM as the receiving stream for Drummond’s discharge, is the
creek to the west and is labeled as such.

Below is a close up of the beaver pond on the Property taken in March 2021. It is the most recent
satellite image available in Google Earth before Drummond began pumping polluted water into the
beaver pond, the unnamed tributary and Fred Vines Slough on the lower Locust Fork. Note the natural
greenish color in both the pond and at the beginning of the unnamed tributary at the toe of the pond.
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Figure 2

The beaver pond is in the center of the photograph with the unnamed tributary at the bottom right of center.

Once Drummond began pumping, homeowners on Fred Vines Slough, which flows into the
Locust Fork, began to notice adverse impacts to water quality in the unnamed tributary and slough. On
September 30, 2021, these homeowners, who are also members of Riverkeeper, had a federally licensed
drone pilot take footage of the pumped discharge.6 Riverkeeper has excerpted the drone footage below
in screen captures to demonstrate the path of the pollution.7
Drone footage shows water quality in the beaver pond and unnamed tributary changed
dramatically due to Drummond’s pumping of polluted water from the Property. The screen captures
below trace the turbid orange polluted water from Drummond’s pumped discharge into a rip-rap
channel, the beaver pond, the unnamed tributary of the Locust Fork, and to Fred Vines Slough, which
flows into the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River.

6

The entire footage can be viewed at
https://www.dropbox.com/s/t7jsvgj0sqieuig/Maxine%20Mine%20Drone%20Footage%209-30-21.mp4?dl=0.
7
These homeowners, together with Riverkeeper Nelson Brooke and Staff Scientist John Kinney also witnessed the water
being pumped October 22, 2021. The spray from the pumped discharge is visible from Cook Ford Road.
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Figure 3

The well pump is discharging a large volume of polluted water into a rip-rap channel. Note the staining of the rip-rap and
the turbid orange color of the water.

Figure 4

A longer view of the pump (middle of photograph) and the pipe discharging orange, turbid water into rip-rap channel.
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Figure 5

The lower end of the rip-rap channel downgradient of the pumped discharge where the turbid orange water collects.

Figure 6

The upper end of the beaver pond contains turbid, orange water from the well pump discharge.
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Figure 7

The lower end of the beaver pond is in the middle of the photograph. The bottom of the photograph shows the beaver pond
discharging turbid orange water into the unnamed tributary of the Locust Fork.

Figure 8

The unnamed tributary just below where it flows from the beaver pond. The turbid orange water from the beaver pond is
visible in the unnamed tributary.
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Figure 9

Turbid orange water is visible in the unnamed tributary.

Figure 10

Lower end of the unnamed tributary is turbid, just before it flows into Fred Vines Slough.
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Figure 11

Turbid water from the beaver pond in Fred Vines Slough, which flows into the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River.

III.

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS.

Drummond is in violation of §§ 301, 306 and 402 of the CWA (33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1316 and
1342). These laws mandate that Drummond shall not discharge pollutants to waters of the United States
except in compliance with any permit issued pursuant to the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System (“NPDES”). Drummond is a person who is (1) discharging (2) pollutants (3) into waters of the
United States (4) from a point source (5) without a permit. Parker v. Scrap Metal Processors, Inc., 386
F.3d 993, 1003 (11th Cir. 2004).
Drummond is a “person” pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) and is subject to the citizen suit
provisions of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365. Drummond owns and/or operates the Property from which
the polluted water is being pumped.
The activity described above constitutes a “discharge of pollutants” as that term is defined at 33
U.S.C. § 1362(12) and 40 C.F.R. § 122.2. Specifically, Drummond is pumping and discharging polluted
water that is characteristic of mining wastewater or mine pool drainage, with iron, manganese,
conductivity, sulfates, total suspended solids, and total dissolved solids.
The unnamed tributary, Fred Vines Slough, and the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River are
all “waters of the U.S.” The Eleventh Circuit has interpreted Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715
(2006), the seminal case addressing CWA jurisdiction over WOTUS, to mean that a tributary is a
WOTUS if it has a “significant nexus” to a navigable water. United States v. Robison, 505 F.3d 1208,
1222–23 (11th Cir. 2007) (adopting Justice Kennedy’s test). The significant nexus test is met if there is
downstream pollutant transport from the tributary to a navigable river. United States v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d
10

200, 211 n.4 (6th Cir. 2009); N. Cal. River Watch v. City of Healdsburg, 496 F.3d 993, 1001 (9th Cir.
2007); United States v. Hubenka, 438 F.3d 1026, 1034 (10th Cir. 2006).
The Locust Fork is a navigable-in-fact river physically connected to a navigable-in-fact slough
that is physically, biologically, and chemically connected to the unnamed tributary that receives the
polluted water from the beaver pond. Waters of the U.S. include “tributaries of waters that can be
navigated.” Parker, 386 F.3d at 1009. A tributary is a “stream which contributes its flow to a larger
stream or other body of water.” Headwaters, Inc. v. Talent Irrigation Dist., 243 F.3d 526, 533 (9th Cir.
2001). “[D]itches and canals, as well as streams and creeks,” including man-made ditches and manaltered water bodies, are navigable waters if they are tributaries of a larger body of water. Parker, 386
F.3d at 1009.
The CWA defines a point source to include “any discernable, confined, and discrete
conveyance,” including pipes, ditches, channels, tunnels, conduits, wells and discreet fissures from
which “pollutants are or may be discharged.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14). Upon information belief,
Drummond is pumping polluted water from a well and discharging it through a pipe and channel(s) to a
beaver pond, which Drummond has essentially repurposed as a sediment basin. The well, pipe,
channel(s), and the beaver pond8 are all “point sources” as that term is defined by the CWA.
Upon information and belief, Drummond does not have a permit, and is not authorized, under
Section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. 1311(a), and Section 402, 33 U.S.C. 1342, of the CWA, to discharge
pollutants from any point source at Maxine Mine into the unnamed tributary, Fred Vines Slough, or the
Locust Fork. Drummond is violating Section 301(a) of the CWA, on an ongoing and continuous basis,
by illegally discharging pollutants from a point source into the unnamed tributary, Fred Vines Slough,
and the Locust Fork without a permit.
Drummond is also in violation of Alabama’s State narrative water quality standards. See Ala.
Admin. Code r. 335-6-10.06(a) (“waters shall be free from substances attributable to sewage, industrial
wastes or other wastes that will settle to form bottom deposits which are unsightly, putrescent or
interfere directly or indirectly with any classified water use.”); Ala. Admin. Code r. 335-6-10.06(b)
(“waters shall be free from floating debris, oil, scum, and other floating materials attributable to …
industrial wastes … in amounts sufficient to be unsightly or interfere directly or indirectly with any
classified water use”). Drummond’s discharges of turbid orange water from the Property have created
the same conditions in the unnamed tributary and Fred Vines Slough, as detailed in the photographs
above. These conditions are unsightly and interfere with the designated uses of the unnamed tributary
and the slough, which are designated for Fish & Wildlife usage.
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Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Pocahontas Land Corp., No. 3:14–11333, 2015 WL 2144905 at *1 (S.D. W.Va. May 7,
2015) (sediment ponds on mine site releasing runoff into navigable downstream waters “unequivocally” a point source).
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The polluted water being discharged from the Property carries high levels of settleable solids (as
implied by the opacity, turbidity, and color of the polluted water) and iron (as confirmed by the samples
submitted to ADEM by Drummond), which contribute to two major pollution issues in Fred Vines
Slough. First, the settleable solids are contributing to sedimentation in the slough, smothering and
limiting habitat for fish and other aquatic organisms and filling in and inhibiting access to portions of the
slough for motor boats. Second, the discharge of high concentrations of iron can contribute to the
proliferation of lyngbya algae, which has already established a widespread presence in Fred Vines
Slough.9 (Both of these pollution issues have a severe, negative impact on the ability of people to enjoy
and use the slough and their properties thereon for fishing, boating swimming, observing wildlife, and
relaxing in the presence of unpolluted natural surroundings).
IV.

CONCLUSION

If Drummond fails to stop pumping the polluted water as discussed herein and fails to come into
full compliance with the CWA within 60 days of the receipt of this letter, Riverkeeper intends to file a
citizen suit seeking declaratory and injunctive relief as well as civil penalties. Riverkeeper will request,
among other remedies, a judgment declaring the discharges or violations described herein to be
unlawful; declaring that Drummond is in continuing violation of the CWA at the former Maxine Mine
property; enjoining Drummond from continuing to pump polluted water at the Property; and ordering
Drummond to immediately cease or obtain an NPDES permit for their discharges to the unnamed
tributary of the Locust Fork of the Black Warrior River. Riverkeeper intends to pursue these and similar
or related violations, including all violations which occur or continue after service of this notice and all
violations revealed in the course of the litigation discovery process.
Riverkeeper will also seek the imposition of civil penalties. See 40 C.F.R. Part 19. In addition,
if successful in the prosecution of this suit, Riverkeeper intends to seek an award of the costs of
litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) under 33 U.S.C. § 1365.
If Drummond has taken any steps to eradicate the violations described above, or if anything in
this letter is inaccurate, please let me know. If Drummond does not advise me of any remedial steps
taken during the notice period, we will assume that no such steps have been taken, that there are no
material errors in this letter, and that violations are likely to continue. Finally, we would be happy to
meet with Drummond or its representatives to attempt to resolve these issues within the notice period.
Our preference always is to work with polluters to address the environmental compliance concerns we
have identified.
Thank you for your attention to this matter and we look forward to hearing from you.
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Found at
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/43455761_Effects_of_iron_additions_on_filament_growth_and_productivity_of_th
e_cyanobacterium_Lyngbya_majuscula).
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Sincerely,

Eva Dillard
Attorney for
Black Warrior Riverkeeper, Inc.

cc:

Blake Andrews,
Vice President, General Counsel & Assistant Secretary
Drummond Company
1000 Urban Center Drive, Suite 300
Birmingham, AL 35242 (via email only)
bandrews@drummondco.com
Michael S. Regan, Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Office of the Administrator, Mail Code 1101A
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20460
Regan.Michael@epa.gov
John Blevins, Acting Regional Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 4
Sam Nunn Atlanta Federal Center
61 Forsyth Street, SW
Atlanta, GA 30303-8960
Blevins.John@epa.gov
Lance LeFleur, Director
Alabama Department of Environmental Management
P. O. Box 301463
Montgomery, AL 36130
llefleur@adem.state.al.us
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